



European Federation of Funeral Services

CONSTITUTION

OF THE EUROPEAN FEDERATION OF
FUNERAL SERVICES (EFFS)



CONSTITUTION OF THE EUROPEAN FEDERATION OF FUNERAL SERVICES (EFFS)

The establishment of the European Federation of Funeral Services (EFFS) was approved by administrative decision of the Public Security Directorate for Vienna (Federal Ministry of the Interior) dated 29 November 1994, No. IV-SD/2136, VVM/94.

The present Constitution was approved at the General Assembly of the EFFS held in Düsseldorf on 23. September 2021.

CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	4
Article 1. NAME	4
Article 2. REGISTERED OFFICE	4
Article 3. PURPOSE	4
Article 4. MEMBERSHIP	5
Article 5. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS	6
Article 6. VOTING RIGHTS	7
Article 7. FUNDING	7
Article 8. EFFS BODIES	8
Article 9. GENERAL ASSEMBLY	8
Article 10. THE BOARD	10
Article 12. AUDITORS	12
Article 13. ARBITRATIONS	12
Article 14. DISSOLUTION OF THE EFFS	13
Article 15. AUTHENTIC TEXT	13

PREAMBLE

The EFFS is a European federation of national and regional funeral directors associations, funeral directors or funeral homes, and of corporate entities or establishments engaged in the provision of products or services related to the funeral sector.

The EFFS operates as an international non-profit organization.

It will be incorporated according to the resolutions passed during General Assemblies held in 1994 of “Europäische Bestatter-Union” (hereinafter referred to as “EBU”), with its registered office in Vienna, and of “Association Européenne de Thanatologie” (hereinafter referred to as “AET”), with its registered office in Brussels and therefore shall replace EBU and AET in order to protect mutual interests in an ever closer cooperation.

The EFFS believes that the Constitution set forth in the following pages creates an appropriate basis for achieving the objectives as defined in Article 3, whilst respecting the principles of non-interference in national practices and traditions or the legal status of its members.

Article 1. NAME

The Organization shall be designated

EUROPEAN FEDERATION OF FUNERAL SERVICES (EFFS)

EUROPÄISCHE VEREINIGUNG FÜR BESTATTUNGSDIENSTE

Article 2. REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of the EFFS is in Vienna, Austria.

Article 3. PURPOSE

1. The EFFS is a European non-profit organisation of national and regional funeral associations, funeral directors, funeral homes and any other funeral professionals, whose goal it is to support all sectors of the funeral industry, whilst respecting laws and regulations in force, to achieve the highest professionalism, qualifications, transparency, dignity and respect for the deceased and their bereaved across European borders and beyond.
2. The EFFS seeks to reach these objectives through:
 - a) the study of matters of common interest to the funeral sector;
 - b) the exchange of experience and information, as well as the furtherance of cooperation and assistance between members;
 - c) agreements providing for the mutual assistance and support of members to provide funeral services, especially with regard to the transport of deceased within European borders;

- d) concerted action with relevant European bodies as regards the conclusion of, or compliance with international conventions and agreements governing funeral services;
 - e) acting as a representative authority on a European level to protect the general interests of the profession and harmonize the activities within the funeral sector without infringing on the autonomy of national member organizations;
 - f) the publication of research findings, as well as the organization of meetings, conferences and other events;
 - g) representation in international organizations in all matters concerning the funeral profession.
3. In view of the special status and significance of the profession, the members shall draw up an ethical code and promote compliance with it. This ethical code shall, however, not contain any regulations that conflict with national laws, the organizational rules of the members, or the customs prevailing in the states in which members have their registered offices.
 4. The members of the EFFS shall cooperate on a voluntary and friendly basis.
 5. As a matter of principle, the EFFS shall refrain from dealing with any national matters.

Article 4. MEMBERSHIP

1. The membership of the EFFS comprises national members, individual members, extraordinary members and honorary members or honorary presidents. Applications for membership shall be submitted to the EFFS in written form using the online application form and forwarded by the Executive Director to the Board for approval/rejection.
2. Membership: Natural persons or legal entities seeking membership can do so on the condition that their registered office is in a country that is geographically considered to be part of Europe¹, and that they exercise their profession in Europe. Memberships are categorised as follows:
 - a) **National member (NM):**
National funeral associations of countries in geographical Europe¹ (hereinafter referred to as “National Members” NM);
 - b) **Individual member (IM):**
Funeral directors, funeral companies, funeral homes or regional funeral associations of countries that are located in geographical Europe¹ (hereinafter referred to as “Individual Members” IM);
 - c) **Extraordinary member (EMI) (within Europe¹):**
Natural persons or legal entities whose registered office is in a European country and who provide services to, or whose activities are related to the funeral profession.
 - d) **Extraordinary member (EMO) (outside Europe):**
Natural persons or legal entities whose registered office is outside of Europe and who provide services to, or whose activities are related to the funeral profession.

Other professional associations, corporate entities or establishments who provide products to, or whose activities are related to funeral services (such as cemeteries and crematoria) may also become extraordinary members.

3. Natural persons or legal entities whose registered office is not in a European country and/or who do not exercise their profession primarily in Europe may be admitted as extraordinary members. Other associations, corporate entities or establishments who provide products to, or whose activities are related to funeral services, such as cemeteries and crematoria, may become extraordinary members as well.
4. Upon request of the Board, the General Assembly may admit natural persons or legal entities that have rendered valuable services in a scientific, cultural or social field, or that have rendered any particular service to the profession as honorary members or honorary presidents. Honorary members or honorary presidents may participate in General Assemblies in an advisory capacity or may be called to serve on Working Committees.
5. The Board shall take decisions regarding the admission of members on the basis of applications received. Should the country in which the applicant is based already be represented within the EFFF by one or more National Members, the Board shall seek the opinion of these associations prior to taking a decision. Membership commences upon admission by the Board. In the event that the application is rejected, the applicant may lodge an appeal with the Board. At each regular General Assembly, the Board shall report on the admission of new members and on any rejections of applications since the last General Assembly.
6. Membership shall expire upon the death or resignation of a member following notification thereof, upon deletion or exclusion, or for corporate entities, at such time that they lose their status of a legal entity.
7. Resignation shall be permitted only after notice thereof has been duly given in writing. This written notice of resignation must be submitted to the Executive Director at least three months prior to year end, i.e. by 30 September of the calendar year in question.
8. The Board may revoke membership if a member has not paid their annual membership fee in spite of two reminders. A revocation of membership does not release the member from its obligation to pay the membership fees that have accrued up to that date.
9. Members may be excluded on the grounds of gross neglect of duty by a qualified 2/3 majority decision of the Board. The member concerned is not allowed to vote. In this case, the member concerned must be informed of such decision in writing no later than five months prior to the scheduled date of the next General Assembly. The member may lodge a written appeal against this exclusion with the Board.
10. Upon termination of membership, members shall not be entitled to claim any of the assets of the EFFF; membership dues paid to EFFF will in no event be reimbursed.

Article 5. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS

1. All members have the right to participate in the General Assembly. Furthermore, members are entitled to designate themselves as EFFF members in their business transactions and to use the EFFF logo. All members undertake to further the objectives of the EFFF as described in Article 3 above, to respect the provisions of the EFFF Constitution and to meet the obligations arising from decisions taken by the relevant EFFF bodies in accordance with the Constitution. The national associations have the obligation of keeping the Executive Director informed on all matters concerning the EFFF, including and in particular, modifications of relevant laws and legal norms, as well as changes in their respective Boards.
2. All members agree to refrain from any individual or joint action which conflicts with the interests of the EFFF, and to continually promote the reputation, standing and interests of the EFFF on a European and international level.

Article 6. VOTING RIGHTS

1. Voting rights and eligibility at General Assemblies are exclusively reserved to members whose membership fees have been paid by the end of April of the current year as stipulated in Article 7.2.
2. National Members shall be entitled to vote in such a way that the number of votes will be allocated on the basis of the population of the country of which they are a national according to the following formula:
Two votes for the first million of population and a further vote for each and every subsequent million of population. National associations from the same country have a shared vote for the total number of votes allocated to their country, unless they have amicably distributed the votes amongst themselves and have informed the Executive Director of this agreement in writing.
3. All members specified as Individual Members shall have one shared vote for all members from the same country.
4. Extraordinary and honorary members have no vote.
5. A proxy to vote on another member's behalf must be submitted to the Executive Director in written form prior to the General Assembly. Without written proxy, no vote may be cast at that Assembly.

Article 7. FUNDING

1. The funds required by the EFFF to carry out its tasks shall be derived from admission fees, membership dues, income from Assemblies and other events, as well as from donations and the sale of publications.
2. The General Assembly can only pass a decision on membership dues if a request to this effect has been submitted by the Board. Admission fees must be paid upon receipt of the invoice and membership dues must be paid by end of April of the cur-

rent calendar year at the latest. Membership dues consist of two elements: a fixed basic amount to be paid by all members, plus an additional variable proportional amount to be paid by National Members as per the number of votes allocated to these Members as defined in Article 6, Section 2.

3. Each new EFFF member shall pay an admission fee to be fixed by the Board in order to cover the administration expenses associated with its admission.
4. All amounts shall be paid in the common currency of the EU or the currency of the country in which the EFFF has its registered office, with postage prepaid and free of any expenses to the EFFF.
5. All members shall be informed in writing of the membership dues no later than January of each calendar year.
6. Membership dues shall cover the costs of the administrative office and the expenses incurred through performing the tasks as defined in the Constitution. The Board has the responsibility of ensuring that all tasks assigned to the Executive Director are carried out economically and with utmost efficiency.
7. Honorary members as defined in Article 4, Section 4, are exempt from the payment of any dues.

Article 8. EFFF BODIES

The EFFF shall have the following bodies:

1. The General Assembly
2. The Board
3. The Finance Committee
4. The Auditors
5. The Arbitrators

These bodies are elected and perform their duties without remuneration.

Article 9. GENERAL ASSEMBLY

1. The General Assembly is the supreme body of the EFFF. It consists of the members with voting rights and of extraordinary and honorary members in an advisory capacity. Each member has the right to represent only one other member by written proxy. (Voting rights are defined in Article 6.)
2. The General Assembly has the authority to make decisions on all matters set out in the Constitution.
3. The General Assembly shall:
 - a) make decisions on proposals submitted by the Board with regard to budget, the fixing membership dues for all members, and the appointment of honorary members;
 - b) approve the report of the Board on activities carried out since the last General Assembly;

- c) receive the financial statement (accounts) of the Board, approve the Auditor's Report on the financial affairs of the EFFF and decide on approval of the conduct of business of the Board;
 - d) elect members to the Board as specified in Article 10, 2., the Auditors, and the Board of Arbitration;
 - e) make decisions on amendments to the Constitution and the dissolution of the EFFF;
 - f) decide if and when secret votes and elections shall be held.
4. An ordinary General Assembly must be held annually. The Assembly is called by the President, who also acts as Chairman. Should the President be prevented from attending the Assembly, he/she will be replaced by the vice-president most senior in years. Organisational requirements:
 - i. All members must be informed of the date and place of the General Assembly at least three months in advance.
 - ii. A written invitation to the Assembly, including an agenda, must be sent two months in advance.
 - iii. The wording of any application to amend the Constitution or to amend the membership dues must also accompany the written invitation sent six weeks prior to the General Assembly.
5. Upon request of the Board or upon written request by one tenth of the votes of the National Members, an extraordinary assembly must be called within two months. The notification to members must be accompanied by an agenda.
6. The General Assembly forms a quorum if at least 50% of the votes of all members who are entitled to vote or their duly appointed representatives are present. Members represented by proxy are considered present. The election process is as follows: The number of votes registered at the beginning of the meeting will be the basis for calculating the necessary majority. Members may agree or disagree with motions, or abstain.
 - a) All decisions and elections at the General Assembly shall be taken by a simple majority (more than 50% of the votes) of the votes of all members present and entitled to vote. For elected positions, candidates may be nominated by their national association for a position as Board member, Auditor or Arbitrator. In the event that more than two candidates are standing for election and none of the candidates receive more than 50 % of the votes of all members present and entitled to vote, a second round of voting will be held between the two candidates with the most votes. In the second round of voting, the candidate with the most votes will be elected. Voting is permissible by written or electronic vote.
 - b) The General Assembly only forms a quorum for amendments to the Constitution or admission fees or membership dues or for the dissolution of the EFFF if at least half of the National Members are present. Amendments to the Constitution or to the admission fees and membership dues, or the dissolution of the EFFF require a qualified majority of two-thirds of the votes of all members present and entitled to vote, as defined in Article 4, Section 2.
 - c) The right to vote at a General Assembly, as defined in Article 6, and the right to be elected can only be exercised by members who have paid their members-

hip dues in full as defined in Article 7, Section 2. In the event that a General Assembly does not constitute a quorum at the agreed time, a waiting period of 30 minutes must be observed. After that time, the General Assembly shall be deemed to constitute a quorum irrespective of the number of persons present.

7. Only members who are entitled to vote (see 6.c) above) may put forward motions.
 - i. Motions regarding changes to items on the agenda must be submitted in writing to the EFFS Executive Director at least six weeks before the General Assembly.
 - ii. Any motions for topics to be added to the agenda must be submitted at least six weeks prior to the General Assembly.
 - iii. All motions regarding changes and/or additions to the agenda must be distributed to all members of the association at least one month prior to the General Assembly.
8. Minutes shall be taken at the General Assembly and shall contain an accurate report of decisions taken by the Assembly, and details of the quorum and the results of any votes. The minutes shall be recorded by the Executive Director, approved by the Chairman of the General Assembly signed by both the Chairman of the Assembly and the Executive Director. The minutes shall be taken in English and sent to all members. Written reports on the outcome of the work of the General Assembly will be sent to all members by the Executive Director.
9. Proposals to amend membership fees or the Constitution, or to dissolve the EFFS must be submitted to the Board before being included in the agenda of the General Assembly.
10. The official working language of the EFFS is English.

Article 10. THE BOARD

1. The Board shall consist exclusively of duly authorized representatives of National Members.
2. The Board shall consist of the following elected members:
 - a) one President
 - b) two Vice-Presidents
 - c) three members from countries with a population greater than 15 million (in the event that there are fewer than three candidates from countries with a population greater than 15 million, the seat will be open to a further candidate(s) from countries with a population of less than 15 million)
 - d) two members from countries with a population less than 15 million
 - e) one Treasurer
3.
 - a) As a matter of principle, members from the same country may only be represented once on the Board. The members of the Board can only be nominated by a National Member and are elected by the General Assembly.
 - b) The President will serve for a period of three years and may be re-elected for a second term of three years. All other elected members will serve for a period of three years and may be re-elected. The retiring President is not a

member of the Board, but may attend meetings in an advisory capacity.

- c) Should a Board member resign or retire from his/her position before the end of his/her term, an interim successor will be appointed by the Board for the remaining term of office. The appointment must be approved as defined in Article 9, 6. a) at the next General Assembly.
4. The Board will assist in the work of the EFFS in cooperation with the Executive Director, and report on the work conducted at the General Assembly.
5. The Board will appoint a Finance Committee consisting of five members to assist the Board in all financial matters. The Chairman of the Finance Committee shall be a representative of the member paying the highest membership fee. The Finance Committee advises the Board on all financial matters and also on the fixing of the admission fee and membership dues. The Finance Committee shall only constitute a quorum if all members are present or represented by proxy. It takes decisions with a two-thirds majority; abstentions are not permitted. Each member of the Finance Committee may replace only one other member of the Committee by written proxy.
6. The President of the EFFS calls Board meetings as required, but at least once a year, and shall act as Chairman of such meetings. Should the President be prevented from attending the meeting, he shall be replaced by the Vice-President most senior in years. The Board shall constitute a quorum if at least two-thirds of the members are present. Board members may replace only one other Board member by written proxy. All Board decisions shall be adopted by simple majority. Motions by the Board to the General Assembly regarding the admission fee and membership dues, amendments to the Constitution or the dissolution of the EFFS require the consent of all Board members.
7. The Board is responsible for the management of the EFFS. It carries out all activities which the Constitution has not allocated to other bodies of the Federation. In particular, it is responsible :
 - i. for establishing the budget;
 - ii. for preparing a written progress report;
 - iii. for providing a statement of accounts;
 - iv. for all preparations of the General Assembly, including supervision and implementation of its decisions;
 - v. for the evaluation of the results of the working committees;
 - vi. for the administration of the Federation's assets;
 - vii. for the admission and expulsion of Federation members; and for the recruitment and termination of the Executive Director and all other employees of the EFFS
8. The President, or in his absence a Vice-President, is the official representative of the EFFS. Documents and announcements shall be signed by the President or in his absence by a Vice-President, and countersigned by the Executive Director (Article 11). Authorization to represent the EFFS in legal transactions may only be granted by these officers.
9. The Treasurer is responsible for the proper management of EFFS funds.

Article 11. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Executive Director shall be appointed by the Board for an indefinite period and remunerated from the funds of the EFFF. Subject to the instructions given to him/her by the President, he/she shall be entrusted with the running of the day-to-day business of the EFFF. He/she shall perform these duties in cooperation with the Board and shall attend all meetings of the General Assembly and of the Board. For all day-to-day operations, the Executive Director has sole signing authority for the EFFF. He/she shall be responsible for taking minutes at the General Assembly and at Board meetings. He/she is assisted by an Administrative Office, which is remunerated from EFFF funds.

Article 12. AUDITORS

1. The General Assembly shall elect two EFFF members or their representatives as auditors. These auditors may not be nationals of the same state, nor may they be nationals of the country in which the EFFF has its registered office. Furthermore, they may not serve as Board members, nor have the same nationality as the President of the EFFF.
2. The Auditors shall serve for a two-year term but can be re-elected.
3. The Auditors shall examine all revenues and expenditure entered in the accounts of the EFFF and verify its annual financial statements with due regard to the provisions stipulated in the EFFF Constitution. The Auditors shall report their findings to the Board and to the members at the General Assembly and shall demand approval of the actions of the Board for the fiscal year under review.

Article 13. ARBITRATORS

1. Any disputes arising within or through the EFFF shall be settled by the Arbitrators.
2. The General Assembly shall elect three arbitrators, who will serve for a period of three years and may be re-elected. The arbitration procedure shall be left to the discretion of the arbitrators. They shall take their decision by simple majority. The EFFF shall consider their decision to be final if taken within a period of one month.
3. Should the arbitrators be unable to settle a dispute within one month, the President and the Vice-Presidents of the EFFF shall make the final decision on the dispute.

Article 14. DISSOLUTION OF THE EFFF

In the case of voluntary dissolution by the General Assembly in accordance with Article 9, Section 3, subsection g), the General Assembly shall also take a decision as regards the use of its assets and shall appoint a liquidator. The assets, as far as possible and permitted, shall be transferred to an organization pursuing the same or similar aims as the EFFF.

Article 15. AUTHENTIC TEXT

1. The Executive Director has compiled the final and approved version of the Constitution in English, which is the official and authorised version, in addition to the version in the language of the country in which the EFFF has its registered office.
2. Translations may be made into other languages, but will not be recognized in the event of a dispute.



European Federation of Funeral Services

SATZUNG

DER EUROPÄISCHEN VEREINIGUNG FÜR
BESTATTUNGSDIENSTE



SATZUNG DER EUROPÄISCHEN VEREINIGUNG FÜR BESTATTUNGSDIENSTE

(EUROPEAN FEDERATION OF FUNERAL SERVICES, EFFS)

Die Gründung der Europäischen Vereinigung für Bestattungsdienste (EFFS) wurde mit amtlichem Bescheid der Generaldirektion für die öffentliche Sicherheit in Wien (Bundesministerium für Inneres) vom 29. November 1994, Nr. IV-SD/2136, VVM/94, genehmigt.

Die vorliegende Satzung wurde auf der Generalversammlung der EFFS am **23. September 2021 in Düsseldorf** angenommen.

Gemäß Artikel 15 Absatz 1 der EFFS-Satzung wurde die sprachliche Korrektheit der deutschen Fassung der Satzung am **30. November 2023** von einem nach der ÖNORM EN 15038 zertifizierten Übersetzer (Fox Coffey KEG) überprüft.

INHALT

PRÄAMBEL	17
Artikel 1. NAME	17
Artikel 2. EINGETRAGENER SITZ	17
Artikel 3. ZWECK	17
Artikel 4. MITGLIEDSCHAFT	18
Artikel 5. RECHTE UND PFLICHTEN DER MITGLIEDER	20
Artikel 6. WAHLRECHT	20
Artikel 7. FINANZMITTEL	20
Artikel 8. EFFS-ORGANE	21
Artikel 9. GENERALVERSAMMLUNG	21
Artikel 10. VORSTAND	23
Artikel 11. GESCHÄFTSFÜHRER	25
Artikel 12. RECHNUNGSPRÜFER	25
Artikel 13. SCHLICHTER	26
Artikel 14. AUFLÖSUNG DER EFFS	26
Artikel 15. ZUVERLÄSSIGER TEXT	26

PRÄAMBEL

Die EFFS ist ein europäischer Zusammenschluss von nationalen und regionalen Verbänden von Bestattern, Bestattungsunternehmern oder Bestattungsinstituten sowie von Unternehmen oder Einrichtungen, die Produkte oder Dienstleistungen im Zusammenhang mit dem Bestattungswesen anbieten.

Die EFFS operiert als internationale gemeinnützige Organisation.

Sie wurde gemäß den Beschlüssen der Generalversammlungen von 1994 der Europäischen Bestatter-Union (nachfolgend EBU genannt) mit Sitz in Wien und der Association Européenne de Thanatologie (nachfolgend AET genannt) mit Sitz in Brüssel gegründet und tritt damit an die Stelle von EBU und AET, um die gegenseitigen Interessen in einer immer engeren Zusammenarbeit zu wahren.

Die EFFS ist der Ansicht, dass die auf den folgenden Seiten dargelegte Satzung eine geeignete Grundlage für das Erreichen der in Artikel 3 genannten Ziele bildet, wobei die Grundsätze der Nichteinmischung in nationale Praktiken und Traditionen und der Rechtsstatus ihrer Mitglieder gewahrt bleiben.

Artikel 1. NAME

Der Name der Organisation ist EUROPÄISCHE VEREINIGUNG FÜR BESTATTUNGSDIENSTE (EUROPEAN FEDERATION OF FUNERAL SERVICES, EFFS)

Artikel 2. EINGETRAGENER SITZ

Der Sitz der EFFS befindet sich in Wien, Österreich.

Artikel 3. ZWECK

1. Die EFFS ist eine europäische gemeinnützige Organisation von nationalen und regionalen Bestattungsverbänden, Bestattungsunternehmern, Bestattungsinstituten und anderen Bestattungsfachleuten, deren Ziel es ist, alle Bereiche der Bestattungsbranche abzudecken und dabei die geltenden Gesetze und Vorschriften zu respektieren, um in höchstem Maße Professionalität, Qualifikation, Transparenz, Würde und Respekt für die Verstorbenen und ihre Hinterbliebenen über die europäischen Grenzen hinweg und darüber hinaus zu erreichen.
2. Die EFFS strebt das Erreichen dieser Ziele an durch:
 - a) die Untersuchung von Angelegenheiten von gemeinsamem Interesse für den Bestattungssektor,
 - b) den Austausch von Erfahrungen und Informationen sowie die Förderung der Zusammenarbeit und Unterstützung zwischen den Mitgliedern,
 - c) Vereinbarungen über die gegenseitige Hilfe und Unterstützung unter den Mitgliedern bei der Erbringung von Bestattungsdienstleistungen, insbesondere

- d) bei der Überführung von Verstorbenen innerhalb der europäischen Grenzen,
 - d) abgestimmte Maßnahmen mit den zuständigen europäischen Gremien im Hinblick auf den Abschluss oder die Einhaltung von internationalen Übereinkommen und Vereinbarungen über Bestattungsdienstleistungen,
 - e) eine repräsentative Vertretung auf europäischer Ebene, um die allgemeinen Interessen des Berufsstandes zu schützen und die Aktivitäten innerhalb des Bestattungssektors zu harmonisieren, ohne die Autonomie der nationalen Mitgliedsorganisationen zu verletzen,
 - f) die Veröffentlichung von Forschungsergebnissen sowie die Organisation von Sitzungen, Konferenzen und anderen Veranstaltungen,
 - g) Vertretung in internationalen Organisationen in allen Angelegenheiten, die den Beruf des Bestatters betreffen.
3. In Anbetracht des besonderen Status und der Bedeutung des Berufsstandes erarbeiten die Mitglieder einen Ethikkodex und achten auf dessen Einhaltung. Dieser Ethikkodex darf jedoch keine Regelungen enthalten, die im Widerspruch stehen zu nationalen Gesetzen, den Organisationsvorschriften der Mitglieder oder den Gepflogenheiten in den Staaten, in denen die Mitglieder ihren Sitz haben.
 4. Die Mitglieder der EFFS arbeiten auf freiwilliger und freundschaftlicher Basis zusammen.
 5. Die EFFS wird sich grundsätzlich nicht mit nationalen Angelegenheiten befassen.

Artikel 4. MITGLIEDSCHAFT

1. Die Mitglieder der EFFS setzen sich zusammen aus nationalen Mitgliedern, Einzelmitgliedern, außerordentlichen Mitgliedern und Ehrenmitgliedern oder Ehrenpräsidenten. Anträge auf Mitgliedschaft sind schriftlich über das Online-Antragsformular bei der EFFS einzureichen und werden vom Geschäftsführer zur Genehmigung oder Ablehnung an den Vorstand weitergeleitet.
2. Mitgliedschaft: Natürliche oder juristische Personen, die eine Mitgliedschaft anstreben, können dies unter der Bedingung tun, dass sich ihr eingetragener Sitz in einem Land befindet, das geografisch als Teil Europas¹ gilt, und dass sie ihre Tätigkeit in Europa ausüben. Die Kategorien der Mitgliedschaft sind wie folgt:
 - a) **Nationale Mitglieder (NM):**
Nationale Bestattungsverbände der Länder im geografischen Europa¹ (im Folgenden als „Nationale Mitglieder“ (NM) bezeichnet),
 - b) **Einzelmitglieder (EM):**
Bestattungsunternehmer, Bestattungsunternehmen, Bestattungsinstitute oder regionale Bestattungsverbände von Ländern, die sich im geografischen Europa¹ befinden (im Folgenden als „Einzelmitglieder“ (EM) bezeichnet),
 - c) **Außerordentliche Mitglieder (AMI) (innerhalb Europas¹):**
Natürliche oder juristische Personen, die ihren Sitz in einem europäischen Land haben und die Dienstleistungen für das Bestattungsgewerbe erbringen oder deren Tätigkeit mit dem Bestattungsgewerbe im Zusammenhang steht.

- d) **Außerordentliche Mitglieder (AMO) (außerhalb Europas):**
Natürliche oder juristische Personen, die ihren Sitz in einem außereuropäischen Land haben und Dienstleistungen für das Bestattungsgewerbe erbringen oder deren Tätigkeit mit dem Bestattungsgewerbe im Zusammenhang steht.

Weitere Berufsverbände, Unternehmen oder Einrichtungen, die Produkte für Bestattungsdienste anbieten oder deren Tätigkeit mit Bestattungsdiensten zusammenhängt (wie Friedhöfe und Krematorien), können ebenfalls außerordentliche Mitglieder werden.

3. Natürliche oder juristische Personen, die ihren Sitz nicht in einem europäischen Land haben und/oder die ihren Beruf nicht hauptsächlich in Europa ausüben, können als außerordentliche Mitglieder aufgenommen werden. Andere Verbände, Unternehmen oder Einrichtungen, die Produkte für Bestattungsdienste anbieten oder deren Tätigkeit mit Bestattungsdiensten zusammenhängt, wie Friedhöfe und Krematorien, können ebenfalls außerordentliche Mitglieder werden.
4. Auf Antrag des Vorstands kann die Generalversammlung natürliche oder juristische Personen, die sich auf wissenschaftlichem, kulturellem oder sozialem Gebiet oder auf besondere Weise um den Berufsstand verdient gemacht haben, als Ehrenmitglieder oder Ehrenpräsidenten aufnehmen. Ehrenmitglieder oder Ehrenpräsidenten können an den Generalversammlungen in beratender Funktion teilnehmen oder in Arbeitsausschüsse berufen werden.
5. Der Vorstand entscheidet auf der Grundlage der eingegangenen Anträge über die Aufnahme von Mitgliedern. Sollte das Land, in dem der Antragsteller seinen Sitz hat, bereits durch ein oder mehrere nationale Mitglieder in der EFFS vertreten sein, holt der Vorstand vor einer Entscheidung die Meinung dieser Verbände ein. Die Mitgliedschaft beginnt mit der Aufnahme durch den Vorstand. Falls ein Antrag abgelehnt wird, kann der Antragsteller beim Vorstand Beschwerde einlegen. Bei jeder ordentlichen Generalversammlung berichtet der Vorstand über die Aufnahme neuer Mitglieder und über die Ablehnung von Anträgen seit der letzten Generalversammlung.
6. Die Mitgliedschaft erlischt mit dem Tod oder dem Austritt eines Mitglieds nach der Benachrichtigung hierüber, mit der Löschung oder dem Ausschluss oder bei juristischen Personen mit dem Zeitpunkt, an dem sie ihren Status als juristische Person verlieren.
7. Ein Austritt ist nur mit ordnungsgemäßer schriftlicher Mitteilung zulässig. Diese schriftliche Austrittserklärung muss dem Geschäftsführer mindestens drei Monate vor Jahresende vorliegen, d. h. bis zum 30. September des betreffenden Kalenderjahres.
8. Der Vorstand kann die Mitgliedschaft widerrufen, wenn ein Mitglied seinen Jahresbeitrag trotz zweimaliger Mahnung nicht bezahlt hat. Ein Widerruf der Mitgliedschaft entbindet das Mitglied nicht von seiner Verpflichtung, die bis zu diesem Zeitpunkt aufgelaufenen Mitgliedsbeiträge zu zahlen.
9. Mitglieder können wegen grober Pflichtverletzung durch einen qualifizierten 2/3-Mehrheitsbeschluss des Vorstands ausgeschlossen werden. Das betreffende Mitglied ist nicht stimmberechtigt. In diesem Fall muss das betreffende Mitglied spätestens fünf Monate vor dem geplanten Termin der nächsten Generalversammlung schriftlich über diese Entscheidung informiert werden. Das Mitglied

kann gegen diesen Ausschluss schriftlich beim Vorstand Einspruch einlegen.

10. Bei Beendigung der Mitgliedschaft haben die Mitglieder keinen Anspruch auf Vermögenswerte der EFFS. Die an die EFFS gezahlten Mitgliedsbeiträge werden in keinem Fall zurückerstattet.

Artikel 5. RECHTE UND PFLICHTEN DER MITGLIEDER

1. Alle Mitglieder haben das Recht, an der Generalversammlung teilzunehmen. Darüber hinaus sind die Mitglieder berechtigt, sich im Geschäftsverkehr als EFFS-Mitglieder zu bezeichnen und das EFFS-Logo zu verwenden. Alle Mitglieder verpflichten sich, die in Artikel 3 beschriebenen Ziele der EFFS zu fördern, die Bestimmungen der EFFS-Satzung zu respektieren und den Verpflichtungen nachzukommen, die sich aus den Beschlüssen der zuständigen EFFS-Gremien in Übereinstimmung mit der Satzung ergeben. Die nationalen Verbände sind verpflichtet, den Geschäftsführer über alle die EFFS betreffenden Angelegenheiten zu informieren, insbesondere über Änderungen der einschlägigen Gesetze und Rechtsnormen sowie über Veränderungen in ihren jeweiligen Vorständen.
2. Alle Mitglieder verpflichten sich, alle individuellen oder gemeinsamen Handlungen zu unterlassen, die den Interessen der EFFS zuwiderlaufen, und den Ruf, das Ansehen und die Interessen der EFFS auf europäischer und internationaler Ebene kontinuierlich zu fördern.

Artikel 6. WAHLRECHT

1. Das aktive und das passive Wahlrecht bei den Generalversammlungen ist ausschließlich Mitgliedern vorbehalten, deren Mitgliedsbeiträge bis Ende April des laufenden Jahres bezahlt wurden, wie in Artikel 7.2 festgelegt.
2. Die nationalen Mitglieder sind dergestalt stimmberechtigt, dass die Anzahl der Stimmen auf der Grundlage der Bevölkerung des Landes, in dem sie ansässig sind, nach folgender Formel verteilt wird:
Zwei Stimmen für die erste Million der Bevölkerung und eine weitere Stimme für jede weitere Million der Bevölkerung. Nationale Verbände desselben Landes haben eine gemeinsame Stimme entsprechend der Gesamtzahl der ihrem Land zugewiesenen Stimmen, es sei denn, sie haben die Stimmen einvernehmlich untereinander aufgeteilt und den Geschäftsführer schriftlich über diese Vereinbarung informiert.
3. Alle Mitglieder, die als Einzelmitglieder eingetragen sind, haben eine gemeinsame Stimme für alle Mitglieder aus demselben Land.
4. Außerordentliche und Ehrenmitglieder haben kein Stimmrecht.
5. Eine Vollmacht zur Stimmabgabe im Namen eines anderen Mitglieds muss dem Geschäftsführer vor der Generalversammlung in schriftlicher Form vorgelegt werden. Ohne schriftliche Vollmacht kann bei dieser Versammlung keine Stimme abgegeben werden.

Artikel 7. FINANZMITTEL

1. Die Mittel, die die EFFS zur Erfüllung ihrer Aufgaben verwendet, stammen aus Aufnahmegebühren, Mitgliedsbeiträgen, Einnahmen auf Versammlungen und anderen Veranstaltungen sowie aus Spenden und dem Verkauf von Publikationen.
2. Die Generalversammlung kann nur dann einen Beschluss über die Mitgliedsbeiträge fassen, wenn ein entsprechender Antrag vom Vorstand eingereicht wurde. Die Aufnahmegebühren müssen nach Erhalt der Rechnung und die Mitgliedsbeiträge bis spätestens Ende April des laufenden Kalenderjahres bezahlt werden. Der Mitgliedsbeitrag setzt sich aus zwei Elementen zusammen: einem festen Grundbetrag, der von allen Mitgliedern zu zahlen ist, und einem zusätzlichen variablen Proportionalbetrag, der von den nationalen Mitgliedern entsprechend der Anzahl der diesen Mitgliedern zugewiesenen Stimmen, wie in Artikel 6 Abschnitt 2 definiert, zu zahlen ist.
3. Jedes neue EFFS-Mitglied zahlt eine vom Vorstand festzulegende Aufnahmegebühr, um die mit seiner Aufnahme verbundenen Verwaltungskosten zu decken.
4. Alle Beträge sind in der gemeinsamen Währung der EU oder der Währung des Landes zu zahlen, in dem die EFFS ihren Sitz hat, und zwar porto- und gebührenfrei für die EFFS.
5. Alle Mitglieder werden spätestens im Januar eines jeden Kalenderjahres schriftlich über die Höhe der Mitgliedsbeiträge informiert.
6. Die Mitgliedsbeiträge decken die Kosten der Geschäftsstelle und die Ausgaben, die durch die Erfüllung der in der Satzung festgelegten Aufgaben entstehen. Der Vorstand ist dafür verantwortlich, dass alle dem Geschäftsführer übertragenen Aufgaben wirtschaftlich und mit größtmöglicher Effizienz ausgeführt werden.
7. Ehrenmitglieder nach Artikel 4 Abschnitt 4 sind von der Zahlung von Beiträgen befreit.

Artikel 8. EFFS-ORGANE

Die EFFS hat die folgenden Organe:

1. Die Generalversammlung
2. Der Vorstand
3. Der Finanzausschuss
4. Die Rechnungsprüfer
5. Die Schlichter

Diese Organe werden gewählt und üben ihre Tätigkeit unentgeltlich aus.

Artikel 9. GENERALVERSAMMLUNG

1. Die Generalversammlung ist das oberste Organ der EFFS. Sie setzt sich aus den stimmberechtigten Mitgliedern und aus außerordentlichen und Ehrenmitgliedern

mit beratender Funktion zusammen. Jedes Mitglied hat das Recht, nur ein anderes Mitglied mit einer schriftlichen Vollmacht zu vertreten. (Das Stimmrecht ist in Artikel 6 festgelegt.)

2. Die Generalversammlung hat die Befugnis, Entscheidungen in allen in der Satzung beschriebenen Angelegenheiten zu treffen.
3. Die Generalversammlung soll:
 - a) Entscheidungen über die vom Vorstand vorgelegten Vorschläge zum Budget, zur Festsetzung der Mitgliedsbeiträge für alle Mitglieder und zur Ernennung von Ehrenmitgliedern treffen,
 - b) den Bericht des Vorstandes über die seit der letzten Generalversammlung durchgeführten Aktivitäten genehmigen,
 - c) den Finanzbericht (Konten) des Verwaltungsrats entgegennehmen, den Bericht der Rechnungsprüfer über die finanziellen Angelegenheiten der EFFS genehmigen und über die Genehmigung der Geschäftsführung des Vorstands entscheiden,
 - d) die in Artikel 10.2. genannten Mitglieder des Vorstands, die Rechnungsprüfer und die Schlichter wählen,
 - e) Entscheidungen über Satzungsänderungen und die Auflösung der EFFS treffen,
 - f) entscheiden, ob und wann geheime Abstimmungen und Wahlen durchgeführt werden sollen.
4. Die ordentliche Generalversammlung muss jährlich abgehalten werden. Die Versammlung wird vom Präsidenten einberufen, der auch den Vorsitz übernimmt. Sollte der Präsident an der Teilnahme an der Versammlung gehindert sein, wird er durch den an Jahren ältesten Vizepräsidenten ersetzt. Organisatorische Anforderungen:
 - i. Alle Mitglieder müssen mindestens drei Monate im Voraus über das Datum und den Ort der Generalversammlung informiert werden.
 - ii. Eine schriftliche Einladung zur Versammlung, die auch eine Tagesordnung enthält, muss zwei Monate im Voraus verschickt werden.
 - iii. Der Wortlaut eines Antrags auf Satzungsänderung oder auf Änderung der Mitgliedsbeiträge muss ebenfalls der sechs Wochen vor der Generalversammlung zu versendenden schriftlichen Einladung beigefügt werden.
5. Auf Antrag des Vorstands oder auf schriftlichen Antrag von einem Zehntel der Stimmen der nationalen Mitglieder muss innerhalb von zwei Monaten eine außerordentliche Versammlung einberufen werden. Der Mitteilung an die Mitglieder muss eine Tagesordnung beigefügt sein.
6. Die Generalversammlung ist beschlussfähig, wenn mindestens 50 % der Stimmen aller stimmberechtigten Mitglieder oder ihrer ordnungsgemäß ernannten Vertreter anwesend sind. Mitglieder, die durch einen Bevollmächtigten vertreten sind, gelten als anwesend. Das Abstimmungsverfahren läuft wie folgt ab: Die Anzahl der zu Beginn der Versammlung festgestellten Stimmen ist die Grundlage für die Berechnung der erforderlichen Mehrheit. Die Mitglieder können Anträgen zustimmen oder sie ablehnen oder sich der Stimme enthalten.

- a) Alle Beschlüsse und Wahlen auf der Generalversammlung werden mit einfacher Mehrheit (mehr als 50 % der Stimmen) aller anwesenden und stimmberechtigten Mitglieder entschieden. Bei gewählten Positionen können Kandidaten von ihrem nationalen Verband für eine Position als Vorstandsmitglied, Rechnungsprüfer oder Schlichter vorgeschlagen werden. Falls mehr als zwei Kandidaten zur Wahl stehen und keiner der Kandidaten mehr als 50 % der Stimmen aller anwesenden und stimmberechtigten Mitglieder erhält, findet ein zweiter Wahlgang zwischen den beiden Kandidaten mit den meisten Stimmen statt. Im zweiten Wahlgang gilt der Kandidat mit den meisten Stimmen als gewählt. Die Stimmabgabe ist schriftlich oder elektronisch möglich.
 - b) Wenn es um Satzungsänderungen, Aufnahmegebühren oder Mitgliedsbeiträge oder um die Auflösung der EFFS geht, ist die Generalversammlung nur dann beschlussfähig, wenn mindestens die Hälfte aller nationalen Mitglieder anwesend ist. Änderungen an der Satzung oder den Aufnahmegebühren und Mitgliedsbeiträgen oder die Auflösung der EFFS bedürfen einer qualifizierten Mehrheit von zwei Dritteln der Stimmen aller anwesenden und stimmberechtigten Mitglieder, wie in Artikel 4 Abschnitt 2 festgelegt.
 - c) Das aktive Stimmrecht in der Generalversammlung gemäß Artikel 6 und das passive Wahlrecht können nur von Mitgliedern ausgeübt werden, die ihre Mitgliedsbeiträge vollständig bezahlt haben, wie in Artikel 7 Abschnitt 2 festgelegt. Falls eine Generalversammlung zum vereinbarten Zeitpunkt nicht beschlussfähig ist, muss eine Wartezeit von 30 Minuten eingehalten werden. Nach diesem Zeitpunkt gilt die Generalversammlung als beschlussfähig, unabhängig von der Anzahl der anwesenden Personen.
7. Nur stimmberechtigte Mitglieder (siehe 6. c) oben) können Anträge einreichen.
 - i. Anträge zur Änderung von Tagesordnungspunkten müssen mindestens sechs Wochen vor der Generalversammlung schriftlich beim EFFS-Geschäftsführer eingereicht werden.
 - ii. Anträge auf Aufnahme von Themen in die Tagesordnung müssen mindestens sechs Wochen vor der Generalversammlung eingereicht werden.
 - iii. Alle Anträge auf Änderungen und/oder Ergänzungen zur Tagesordnung müssen mindestens einen Monat vor der Generalversammlung an alle Verbandsmitglieder verteilt werden.
 8. Über die Generalversammlung wird ein Protokoll angefertigt, das einen genauen Bericht über die von der Versammlung getroffenen Entscheidungen sowie Angaben zur Beschlussfähigkeit und zu den Abstimmungsergebnissen enthält. Das Protokoll wird vom Geschäftsführer erstellt, vom Vorsitzenden der Generalversammlung genehmigt und sowohl vom Vorsitzenden der Versammlung als auch vom Geschäftsführer unterzeichnet. Das Protokoll wird in englischer Sprache verfasst und an alle Mitglieder versandt. Schriftliche Berichte über die Arbeitsergebnisse der Generalversammlung werden vom Geschäftsführer an alle Mitglieder verschickt.
 9. Vorschläge zur Änderung der Mitgliedsbeiträge oder der Satzung oder zur Auflösung der EFFS müssen dem Vorstand vorgelegt werden, bevor sie auf die Tagesordnung der Generalversammlung gesetzt werden.
 10. Die offizielle Arbeitssprache der EFFS ist Englisch

Artikel 10. VORSTAND

1. Der Vorstand besteht ausschließlich aus ordnungsgemäß bevollmächtigten Vertretern der nationalen Mitglieder.
2. Der Vorstand setzt sich aus den folgenden gewählten Mitgliedern zusammen:
 - a) ein Präsident
 - b) zwei Vizepräsidenten
 - c) drei Mitglieder aus Ländern mit mehr als 15 Millionen Einwohnern (falls es weniger als drei Kandidaten aus Ländern mit mehr als 15 Millionen Einwohnern gibt, steht der Sitz für einen oder mehrere weitere Kandidaten aus Ländern mit weniger als 15 Millionen Einwohnern offen)
 - d) zwei Mitglieder aus Ländern mit einer Bevölkerung von weniger als 15 Millionen
 - e) ein Schatzmeister
3.
 - a) Mitglieder aus demselben Land dürfen grundsätzlich nur einmal im Vorstand vertreten sein. Die Mitglieder des Vorstands können nur von einem nationalen Mitglied nominiert und von der Generalversammlung gewählt werden.
 - b) Der Präsident wird für einen Zeitraum von drei Jahren gewählt und kann für eine zweite Amtszeit von drei Jahren wiedergewählt werden. Alle anderen gewählten Mitglieder werden für einen Zeitraum von drei Jahren gewählt und können wiedergewählt werden. Der scheidende Präsident ist kein Mitglied des Vorstands mehr, kann aber an den Sitzungen in beratender Funktion teilnehmen.
 - c) Sollte ein Vorstandsmitglied vor Ablauf seiner Amtszeit zurücktreten oder sein Amt niederlegen, wird vom Vorstand ein Interimsnachfolger für die verbleibende Amtszeit benannt. Die Ernennung muss gemäß Artikel 9.6. a) auf der nächsten Generalversammlung bestätigt werden.
4. Der Vorstand wird die Arbeit der EFFS in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Geschäftsführer unterstützen und auf der Generalversammlung über die geleistete Arbeit berichten.
5. Der Vorstand benennt einen aus fünf Mitgliedern bestehenden Finanzausschuss, der den Vorstand in allen finanziellen Angelegenheiten unterstützt. Der Vorsitzende des Finanzausschusses ist ein Vertreter des Mitglieds, das den höchsten Mitgliedsbeitrag zahlt. Der Finanzausschuss berät den Vorstand in allen finanziellen Angelegenheiten und bei der Festsetzung der Aufnahmegebühren und der Mitgliedsbeiträge. Der Finanzausschuss ist nur beschlussfähig, wenn alle Mitglieder anwesend oder durch einen Bevollmächtigten vertreten sind. Er fasst seine Beschlüsse mit einer Zweidrittelmehrheit. Stimmenthaltungen sind nicht zulässig. Jedes Mitglied des Finanzausschusses kann nur ein anderes Mitglied des Ausschusses mit schriftlicher Vollmacht ersetzen.
6. Der Präsident der EFFS beruft nach Bedarf, mindestens jedoch einmal im Jahr, Vorstandssitzungen ein und führt den Vorsitz bei diesen Sitzungen. Sollte der Präsident an der Sitzungsteilnahme gehindert sein, wird er durch den an Jahren ältesten Vizepräsidenten vertreten. Der Vorstand ist beschlussfähig, wenn mindestens zwei Drittel der Mitglieder anwesend sind. Vorstandsmitglieder können nur ein ande-

res Vorstandsmitglied mit schriftlicher Vollmacht ersetzen. Alle Beschlüsse des Vorstands werden mit einfacher Mehrheit gefasst. Anträge des Vorstands an die Generalversammlung bezüglich der Aufnahmegebühren und der Mitgliedsbeiträge, Änderungen der Satzung oder der Auflösung der EFFS bedürfen der Zustimmung aller Vorstandsmitglieder.

10. Der Vorstand ist für die administrative Leitung der EFFS verantwortlich. Er führt alle Tätigkeiten aus, die laut Satzung nicht anderen Verbandsorganen zugewiesen sind. Er ist insbesondere verantwortlich:
 - i. für die Aufstellung des Haushaltsplans
 - ii. für die Erstellung eines schriftlichen Fortschrittsberichts
 - iii. für die Vorlage eines Rechenschaftsberichts
 - iv. für alle Vorbereitungen der Generalversammlung, einschließlich der Überprüfung und Umsetzung ihrer Beschlüsse
 - v. für die Bewertung der Ergebnisse der Arbeitsausschüsse
 - vi. für die Verwaltung des Verbandsvermögens
 - vii. für die Aufnahme und den Ausschluss von Verbandsmitgliedern sowie für die Einstellung und Kündigung des Geschäftsführers und aller anderen Angestellten der EFFS.
11. Der Präsident, oder in seiner Abwesenheit ein Vizepräsident, ist der offizielle Vertreter der EFFS. Dokumente und Bekanntmachungen werden vom Präsidenten oder in dessen Abwesenheit von einem Vizepräsidenten unterzeichnet und vom Geschäftsführer gegengezeichnet (Artikel 11). Die Befugnis, die EFFS in Rechtsangelegenheiten zu vertreten, kann nur von diesen Amtsträgern erteilt werden.
12. Der Schatzmeister ist für die ordnungsgemäße Verwaltung der Geldmittel der EFFS verantwortlich.

Artikel 11. GESCHÄFTSFÜHRER

Der Geschäftsführer wird vom Vorstand auf unbestimmte Zeit ernannt und aus Geldmitteln der EFFS bezahlt. Er ist vorbehaltlich der ihm vom Präsidenten erteilten Anweisungen mit der Führung der laufenden Geschäfte der EFFS betraut. Er nimmt diese Aufgaben in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Vorstand wahr und nimmt an allen Sitzungen der Generalversammlung und des Vorstandes teil. Im Tagesgeschäft ist der Geschäftsführer allein für die EFFS zeichnungsberechtigt. Er ist für die Protokollführung bei der Generalversammlung und bei den Vorstandssitzungen verantwortlich. Er wird von einer Geschäftsstelle unterstützt, die aus Geldmitteln der EFFS bezahlt wird.

Artikel 12. RECHNUNGSPRÜFER

1. Die Generalversammlung wählt zwei EFFS-Mitglieder oder deren Vertreter als Rechnungsprüfer. Diese Rechnungsprüfer dürfen weder Staatsangehörige desselben Staates sein noch Staatsangehörige des Landes, in dem die EFFS ihren eingetragenen Sitz hat. Außerdem dürfen sie nicht als Vorstandsmitglieder fungieren

und nicht dieselbe Staatsangehörigkeit wie der Präsident der EFFS haben.

2. Die Rechnungsprüfer haben eine Amtszeit von zwei Jahren, können aber wiedergewählt werden.
3. Die Rechnungsprüfer prüfen alle Einnahmen und Ausgaben, die in den Büchern der EFFS verbucht sind, und bestätigen den Jahresabschluss unter Berücksichtigung der in der EFFS-Satzung festgelegten Vorgaben. Die Rechnungsprüfer berichten dem Vorstand und den Mitgliedern auf der Generalversammlung über ihre Befunde und beantragen die Entlastung des Vorstands für das geprüfte Geschäftsjahr.

Artikel 13. SCHLICHTER

1. Alle Streitfälle, die sich innerhalb oder durch die EFFS ergeben, werden von den Schlichtern beigelegt.
2. Die Generalversammlung wählt drei Schlichter, die für einen Zeitraum von drei Jahren im Amt sind und wiedergewählt werden können. Alle Schlichtungsverfahren werden in das Ermessen der Schlichter gestellt. Sie treffen ihre Entscheidungen mit einfacher Mehrheit. Die EFFS betrachtet ihre Entscheidung als endgültig, wenn sie innerhalb einer Frist von einem Monat getroffen wird.
3. Sollten die Schlichter nicht in der Lage sein, einen Streitfall innerhalb eines Monats beizulegen, treffen der Präsident und die Vizepräsidenten der EFFS die endgültige Entscheidung über den Streitfall.

Artikel 14. AUFLÖSUNG DER EFFS

Im Falle einer freiwilligen Auflösung durch die Generalversammlung gemäß Artikel 9 Abschnitt 3 Unterabschnitt g) entscheidet die Generalversammlung zudem über die Verwendung des Vermögens und benennt einen Zuständigen für die Abwicklung. Das Vermögen wird, soweit möglich und zulässig, an eine Organisation übertragen, die die gleichen oder ähnliche Ziele wie die EFFS verfolgt.

Artikel 15. ZUVERLÄSSIGER TEXT

1. Der Geschäftsführer veranlasst zusätzlich zu der Fassung der Satzung in der Sprache des Landes, in dem die EFFS ihren Sitz hat, eine korrekte Übersetzung ins Englische, die die offizielle und genehmigte Fassung darstellt.
2. Übersetzungen in andere Sprachen können angefertigt werden, sind aber im Falle eines Rechtsstreits nicht maßgeblich.

European Federation
of Funeral Services



President:

Ulf Lernéus, Sweden

Executive Director:

Anke Teraa, Germany

Vice Presidents:

Luca Tabossi, Italy

Markus Pinter, Austria

Board Members:

Stephan Neuser, Germany

Jordi Viñas, Spain

Guillaume Fontaine, France

Paulo Carreira, Portugal

Johan Dexters, Belgium

Treasurer:

Gunnar Hammersmark, Norway



European Federation of Funeral Services

Simmeringer Hauptstrasse 339

1110 Wien, Österreich

Email: teraa@effs.eu

Tel.: +49(0)211-16008 49

Web: www.effs.eu